Greek Catholic Church of the Intercession of the Theotokos (Pokrov) in Owczary.
Rychwałd was founded under German law in 1323 (the name Owczary was not adopted until 1952). The intensified settlement movements in the Carpathian Mountains in the 15th century favored the location or relocation of settlements under Vlach law, which brought about changes in the management system. Rychwałd was one of those villages that underwent reorganization at that time. In a document of December 1417, written in Latin, Jan Karwacjan and Jakub, the heir of Gorlice, identify the rights and obligations of the sołtys (the village administrator) Klima and the peasants of the village of Rychwałd: "/.../ the same sołtys hereby makes a solemn vow to his lord / the person granting the privilege to build a church in the village of Rychwałd. And once he starts the construction, his serfs shall be obliged to work with him and assist him in gathering materials and erecting the building /.../ If their priest is already in this church, he will be made free, which will release him from any duties or rents / .../ ". The church may have been built shortly afterwards. The oldest preserved icons of the iconostasis that originate from the temple were made in the middle and the 2nd half of the 15th century. Currently, they are kept in museum collections (see additional photographs): the Castle Museum in Łańcut (Mandylion – the Image of Edessa), the National Museum in Krakow (St. Nicholas and the Crucifixion), the Museum of Folk Architecture in Sanok (Theotokos Hodegetria), and Lviv National Museum (icon of the Intercession of the Theotokos – Pokrov). In 1559, the settlement was controlled by Stanisław Pieniążek of Iwanowice, Wojski [officer responsible for the security of the district] of Kraków, and in 1581 – by Przecław Pieniążek. In the 1680s, the parish in Owczary (Rychwałd) was governed by Father Stefan Rychwałski who endowed the church in printed liturgical books (currently in the collections of the Historical Museum in Sanok). According to the nineteenth-century inventory, the church had two antimensions (from 1668 and 1739) and two bells. The older one was founded in 1695 by Father Tymian Krajnicki and the other one was from 1727. They were both commandeered during World War I. After the local population had been displaced in 1947, the Greek Catholic church was taken over by the Roman Catholic parish in Sękowa. Since 1998, the temple has been shared by Roman Catholic and Greek Catholic parishes, and church services are regularly held in both rites.

The existing wooden church was erected in 1653 (the date is curved on the lintel of the portal in the western facade: "ANO DNI 1653"). It is classified as a West-Lemko Greek Catholic church with a bell tower of post and beam construction in the western massif, but the current shape of the building is a result of several transformations. The temple is a log building that has always been a three-part structure, consisting of a sanctuary, a nave, and a matroneum. The central part of the church is the highest one. In 1710, a new larger sanctuary and sacristy were built on its northern side. Above the entrance to the sacristy, there is a preserved Cyrillic inscription which reads: "God's Year 1710, August First". In 1783, foreman Teodor Rusynek of Varadka (near Zborów) erected the tower (inscription in sanguine inside the belfry), partially rebuilding the church itself. The reconstruction method is reminiscent of numerous similar Slovak examples (e.g. the Greek Catholic church in Jedlinka near Varadka). Therefore, the original matroneum and the wall separating it from the nave were completely removed, and the two load-bearing pillars of the tower were put inside the added part. This way of expanding and adding the tower was not a common practice on the northern slopes of the Carpathians (Wysowa was the exception) where it was common to ‘bestraddle’ the matroneum with tower posts, which can be seen in the oldest known example (Kwiatoń 1742), as well as the buildings erected from scratch (e.g. in Nowica, 1846). The main western portal of the temple (dated "1653") was embedded in its new, western log wall of the church. Around 1870, the interior was decorated with wall paintings, preserved on the surface of the walls, vaults and ceilings of the nave and the matroneum (the sanctuary was decorated with polychrome in 1938). Then the stone fence of the church was constructed or renovated, which was accompanied by erecting a vaulted gate with a pyramidal roof from the south, and renovating the skeletal vestibule in the western facade of the temple. In 1911, the shingled roof slopes of the church were covered with sheet metal. In 1926, a free-standing, brick gate bell tower was built, on the axis of the church, from the west, in the fence line. In 1983-1985, during an extensive renovation of the temple, the shingled roof was restored, among others. Its current shape is close to its historical form from 1783, with the sanctuary enclosed by a straight wall and domed, four-slope vaults with two recesses: over the nave and the sanctuary. The roofs over these rooms have the form of vaults as well (the northern, lower roof slope of the sanctuary also hides the sacristy). The matroneum is the same width as the nave (inside, there is a flat board ceiling) preceded by a skeletal-structure atrium of the same span, with a mono-pitched roof. The post and beam bell tower is crowned with a baroque cupola covered with sheet metal. There are similar, but slightly smaller, onion towers above the nave and the sanctuary. The crosses at the top were made by a blacksmith and the walls are shingled. The belfry, the roof deflections of the nave, the sanctuary, and the vestibule walls are all boarded with vertical planks. All the windows are rectangular: four large ones in the southern facade, smaller ones in the eastern (1) and northern (2) facades. The choir goes around the interior of the matroneum along the north, west, and south walls.

As we have mentioned before, icons from the iconostasis of the oldest Greek Catholic church built in Rychwałd (Owczary), dating from the 15th century, are now part of museum collections, just like later elements of the iconostasis made for the existing temple in 1664 (see the additional photograph: Last Supper icon, the Historical Museum in Sanok). The interior of the church, however, has preserved some extensive furnishings from the period between the late 17th and the 20th centuries, which includes an extremely valuable relic in the form of the iconostasis, created in the years 1712-1756. The lower part of the iconostasis made by Ioan Medycki (1712) is of especially good artistic quality: it includes the so-called sovereign icons with their figural predellas, Royal Doors with paintings in the jambs, and a series of icons of Great Feasts. The painter signed and dated the sovereign icons of the Transfiguration of Jesus and the Intercession of the Theotokos – Pokrov (the icon of the patronal saint of the church). The iconostasis was finished with the Deesis row and the row of Prophets in 1756, made by an unknown painter.

Recently, Jarosław Giemza has identified a significant number of Ioan Medycki's works in Orthodox churches in the western part of the Przemyśl diocese, finding some characteristic features of the artist's technique. Apart from his projects for the church in Owczary, he made an iconostasis and other equipment for the church in Powroźnik, among others (see the description and iconographic material of the Greek Catholic church of St. James, Brother of the Lord in Powroźnik).

The iconostasis of the Greek Catholic church in Owczary, located on the line between the sanctuary and the part of the temple intended for the congregation, is a frame structure, divided into multiple zones with painted figural predellas; it has an axial composition and a rich woodcarving division of the plane, differentiated chronologically (the lower part comes from 1712, the upper part from 1756), but stylistically homogeneous (when it comes to composition and woodcarving decorations). The inscriptions on individual icons are in Church Slavonic. The artistic divisions in each row of the iconostasis have an architectural form and correspond to each other. A decorative (full and openwork) woodcarving detail with baroque forms was used. The frame is decorated with red and dark blue polychrome. The woodcarving is gilded and silvered, locally colored with a laser. The elevated, broken entablature over the embrasured trifoliate arch, above the Royal Doors and the central icon of the Deesis cycle (intercessory prayer to Christ in Majesty), emphasize the vertical axis of the iconostasis. There are horizontal cornices between individual rows with brackets above the columns, as well as a broken cornice over the icons located on the iconostasis’ axis. In addition, above the row of icons of Great Feasts, there is a woodcarving tympanum isolated from three icons: Christ in the Tomb, the Myrrhbearers, and Women at the Tomb (the Small Passion cycle). The alcoves for paintings are embrasured, decorated with woodcarving, flanked with columns, and decorated with a carved, openwork motif of a grapevine. The row of Great Feasts (prazdniki) is divided in the center by a pair of consoles flanking the Last Supper icon. There are six rectangular icons of Great Feasts in a woodcarving frame on each of its sides. Woodcarving decoration is applied to the frame in the form of acanthus, rosettes, and palmettes. There are chest predellas, with separate painting panels on the face and prominent consoles at the edges. The door jamb of the Deacons’ Doors is topped with an arch. The row of Prophets consists of octagonal cartouches in an openwork, curved frame flanking the Crucifixion. The icons are made using the tempera and tempera grassa techniques on wooden canvas, on chalk and glue primer. The sovereign icons (in the lower row) and the icon from the central Deesis cycle have a gilded relief background. The row of sovereign icons consists of half-length images: Virgin Mary with the Child – the Eleusa, Christ Pantocrator, the Transfiguration of Jesus (north side) and the sovereign icon (of the patron saint of the temple) of Theotokos – Pokrov (south side). The openwork Royal Doors (with a motif of acanthus) are crowned with a cross, with images of the Annunciation of the Theotokos and busts of Saint Evangelists in six oval medallions. The row of Great Feasts includes (from the north): the Entry of the Most Holy Theotokos into the Temple, Christmas, Epiphany (the Baptism of Christ), the Presentation of Jesus at the Temple (the Meeting of the Lord), the Annunciation, the Entry into Jerusalem, the Last Supper, the Resurrection, the Ascension of Christ, Pentecost, the Transfiguration, the Dormition of the Theotokos, and the Nativity of the Theotokos. Above the icons of Great Feasts and the three Passion icons above, there is a cycle of the Deesis with a separate, central image of Christ in Glory, dressed in priestly robes, with pairs of Apostles on both sides, depicted in full length, on six icons with a landscape background. The figures have their faces turned to Christ Pantocrator, seated on his throne. In the center, in the topping of the iconostasis, there is the Crucifixion – a painted figure of Christ on a cross with three horizontal bars, in a woodcarving, openwork frame. The row of Old Testament Prophets and Patriarchs is composed of six curved icons in openwork frames. Each of them shows two bust figures, 3/4 profile, with attributes and unrolled scrolls with the text of a prophecy. The predellas show the following paintings (from the north): the Good Samaritan, Christ in the House of Martha and Mary, Jesus and the Samaritan Woman at the Well, Jacob’s Dream.

The level of artistic skills of Ioan Medycki’s works, which are part of the iconostasis, surely far outweigh the images created four decades later that are located in the upper part of the iconostasis. Medycki's works actually stand out against the background of paintings made in the entire diocese at that time. He made icons using wooden canvas (rarely cloth canvas), tempera, tempera grassa, and oil. The portraits usually keep the traditional composition, they are gilded, with relief backgrounds and narrative depictions. The artist willingly uses Western European graphic and painting models, creating distant landscape plans (usually panoramas of cities) with precision and pleasure – compiled in a free way or reproduced according to contemporary prints. He shapes them spatially, using a limited (basically monochromatic) color scale, with gray and blue dominant, and glazes from white to deep gray. The resulting effect is similar to that used in late Gothic and early Renaissance paintings of Western European masters. In all such complex compositions, Medycki saturates the foreground – the figures, the close landscape, the everyday equipment – with color and shapes them in a realistic way. The characters are often depicted with a very fair complexion and slightly pink glaze on the cheeks, lips, and hands. Depending on the rank of representation, he dresses the characters in a more traditional way – by brightening the local color with a sharp and restless, sometimes chromatically differentiated, spot or line, or more realistically – by emphasizing the anatomical structure and movement of the character. A patterned robe and painted imitation of ornamental, colorful fabrics or those interwoven with gold and silver, characteristic of that era, are most often used in portrait icons. There is a visible consistency where the narrative depictions and icons of the Apostles in the Deesis iconostasis cycles use heavily contrasting "stormy skies" filled with clouds in the background, and the paintings have an eschatological message. There is also a glowing or purple sun and moon, sometimes during the eclipse and some luminous streaks finding their way through the heavy clouds. Regardless of the rank, location, and style of the painting, there are inscriptions in the background (in the case of iconostasis and retables, the inscriptions are located on the frame as well) with the names of the people depicted and the theme represented. The realistically painted backgrounds, based on Western European compositional models, in the images of iconostasis predellas, should introduce extensive, characteristically calligraphic, Church Slavonic notes, drawn in a contrasting style, containing not only the name of the representation, but also the Cyrillic number of the relevant chapter and verse in the Bible. The icons in predellas usually take the same shapes as the ones in Owczary – a rectangle fragmented in the corners and profiled with gold-plated, wood-carved strips. Ioan Medycki would often decorate larger flat surfaces of monochrome picture frames with illusionistically painted, colorful cabochons (shaped and polished gemstones). Foundation inscriptions and signatures are sometimes located at the bottom edge of the painting or in its bottom corner. The text and dating are in Cyrillic, and the painter's signature is sometimes in Latin. The bilingualism and the partially erased inscription on the sovereign icon of the Transfiguration of Jesus in the iconostasis of the church in Owczary led to its misinterpretation and the icon being attributed to Stefan Medycki (while it actually is Ioan's signature) (see additional photographs), which resulted in the information about the iconostasis’ co-authorship in Słownik artystów polskich i obcych działających w Polsce, while in fact the 1712 set of icons, which is part of this iconostasis, was made by Ioan Medycki alone. The same is confirmed by another signature put on image of the Theotokos (Pokrov). It is important to clear up this misunderstanding because the icons of the iconostasis in the church in Owczary have long been considered the only comprehensive painting work of Ioan Medycki to be preserved in the Lemko region. The correct interpretation of the signature, arranged in three lines on the Transfiguration icon, is as follows: Ро(к) АΨВІ. / Августа. S. / Ian Medicki. (1712. / August. 6. / Ian Medicki). Since the name was not clearly visible, the mistake resulted from reading ‘S.’ as the initial for ‘Stefan’, while in fact it is the number ‘6’ in the Cyrillic date notation. The entire signature on the icon of the Theotokos (Pokrov) is in Church Slavonic and raises no doubts when it comes to the authorship: Ро(к): Божїя. АΨВІ. Іюлія. Многогрђшнїй Іωан. Медицкій. (God’s Year. 1712. In July. The sinful Ioan Medyckij.). In the case of large projects carried out by Ioan Medycki, the less prominent paintings show signs of a helping hand of someone who could be a fellow woodcarver. His unique sculpting and gilding skills allow us to suppose he was also familiar with form shaping in painting.
As already mentioned, recent studies has made it possible to attribute some more paintings to the artist, including the basic equipment of the church in Powroźnik. Due to the slightly more mature style, the works in Powroźnik seem a few years younger than the ones created in Owczary (see the description of the church in Powroźnik).

By juxtaposing the image of the Theotokos (Pokrov) in the Greek Catholic church in Owczary, signed and dated by the painter for the year 1712, with the Pokrov icon from the Church of St. Lukas in Izby (currently in the church in Berest), we can say that they were painted by the same artist. The icon from Izby was created in 1721 for a wooden church, and in 1886, it was transferred to a new, stone temple. The painting became famous for miracles, and Izby became a sanctuary in 1782. According to legend, it was through the intercession of Izby’s Theotokos that Casimir Pulaski, commander of the Bar Confederates, kept his life. In 1955, the icon was transferred to Berest. Izby kept a professional copy made by Fr. Adam Stachoń. At the bottom edge of the painting from Izby, we can see a Church Slavonic foundation inscription: ‘This painting of the Blessed Pokrov of Our Most Holy Lady Theotokos was made at the expense of the Reverend Father Ioan Ropskoho, Presbyter of Izby and Ropki, for the Holy Greek Catholic church in Izby. For health and the remission of sins. Year 1721. September 3. Both paintings draw attention with the precisely reproduced details of the clothing from that period – patterned fabrics, lace, and jewelry. The individual, portrait treatment of the figure of Epiphanius in the lower part of both paintings – of the lowest rank among the people depicted – is an eye-catching detail. In both cases, his clothes are almost exactly the same, while the face of St. Andrew’s disciple visibly reflects the age difference corresponding to the period between the creation of both icons. It is equally important that the age of the icon characters roughly corresponds to Ioan Medycki’s age at the time the painting was made. This suggests that in both cases the character of Epiphanius is a self-portrait of the painter (see additional photographs).

The above-mentioned image of the Theotokos (Pokrov) is an icon of the patronal saint of the church in Owczary (it expresses the idea of protection and intercession of the Mother of God), located on the southern side in the Sovereign row of the iconostasis. The painting is a representation of complex and multi-layered iconography which was developed in Ruthenia over several centuries. The figure of Mary with raised hands expresses intercession for all mankind and is a reference to the image of Saint Mary of Blachernae (Constantinople) – Panagia (Our Lady of the Sign). The icon is an illustration of the miraculous revelation of the Holy Mother of God to Andrei Yurodivy, which came to him in the church in Blachernae, in the 10th century. He saw Mary against the background of an iconostasis, surrounded by Saints John the Baptist and John the Evangelist, spreading her protective veil (pokrov) above a group of saints and the people gathered in the temple. St. Andrew was then accompanied by his student Epiphanius, who, however, never saw the Mother of God. The axis of the icon composition is made of: the Theotokos spreading the veil (sometimes it is held by Angels above the figure of Mary) and lower (next to the Royal Doors): Saints Andrew and Epiphanius. Depicted against the background of the Royal Doors, we can see St. Romanos the Melodist, holding a scroll with the text of the hymn: "Today the Virgin gives birth to the Transcendent One...". He was a deacon from the 6th century who created this song. His authorship of one of the greatest Akathist Hymns gave him a place among the main figures in the Pokrov composition and made the picture a kind of menologion (a calendar with icons). St. Romanos the Melodist is commemorated by the Church on the Day of the Theotokos (Pokrov) – October 14. Over time, the iconography of the theme of the Theotokos was expanded to include further characters, gathered in the bottom part of the image, next to the Patriarchs, etc.
In the nave of the church in Owczary, there are two interesting, multi-zone altars with Baroque-like features. The older one, from the turn of the 17th and 18th centuries, is standing at the southern wall, with the main icon of St. Nicholas of Myra (Nicholas the Wonderworker) and the Eleusa icon, and the silhouette icon of the Crucifixion in the finial. St. Nicholas is depicted on the icon in full length, wearing episcopal robes, on a silvered relief background. At the side edges of the icon, there are smaller, rectangular images illustrating his life: the Birth of St. Nicholas, the Baptism of St. Nicholas, the Saint receiving his education, St. Nicholas ordained a deacon, St. Nicholas ordained a bishop, the Saint appears to Emperor Constantine. The other altar, located by the northern wall, comes from the beginning of the 18th century, with rich carved decoration, with the main icon of the Theotokos Hodegetria and the icon of Christ and St. John the Baptist (depicted as children) in the finial.
Additional photographs:
01. Icons of St. Nicholas (sovereign) and the Theotokos - Pokrov (sovereign, patronal saint), 15th century, from the iconostasis of the church in Owczary.

02. Icons of the Theotokos Hodegetria (sovereign) and the Crucifixion (from the finial), 15th century, from the iconostasis of the church in Owczary.

03. Icon of Mandylion (the Image of Edessa), 15th century, from the iconostasis of the church in Owczary.

04. Icon of the Last Supper (the row of Great Feasts), 1664, from the iconostasis of the church in Owczary.

05. Signatures of the painter Ioan Medycki on the patronal saint icon of the Theotokos (Pokrov) and the sovereign icon of the Transfiguration of the iconostasis of the church in Owczary. Ed. J. Giemza.

06. Self-portraits of Ioan Medycki (as Epiphanius) on icons of the Theotokos (Pokrov): from the church in Izby from 1721 (now in the church in Berest) and from the church in Owczary.

